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Object Biography #1-Five Rusted Nails and Fragments


I examined one nail in particular from Unit 5 found in context JBH 35. This nail was one of five included in a group catalogued from this context. The nail in question is approximately square, with parallel sides coming to a sharp point and measures 67.4 mm. The second nail which from this grouping which has a discernible shape through the rust is bent, most likely from being hammered into place, and measures 74.4 mm. Each nail is very corroded, suggesting it is crafted from iron. 


Nails fall into several categories. They are crafted from iron or steel, but form and construction has changed considerably through the centuries. The most significant change was the development of the round-profile wire nail in France during the mid 1830s. Wire nails replaced the more common machine-made cut nails (Edwards and Wells 17). In 1885, Henry Bessemer patented the first inexpensive industrial process for the mass-production of steel––that is, mass-producing steel from molten pig iron. This innovation made producing wire nails far more efficient and cheaper than crafting cut nails. Galvanized wire nails are extremely strong, and are drawn from long thin rods of steel. Nails can be made by cutting, forging, and drawing. The two examples from JBH 35 are without a doubt cut nails. 


The development of cut nails has a prolific history. The nails from JBH 35 can be dated from some time between 1790 and the late 19th century. Towards the latter half of the 19th century, steel became favored as a result of the Bessemer process. The two corroded nails from JBH 35 are cut nails, which are created by cutting triangular “nail blanks” from flat pieces of iron (Edwards and Wells 2). Crafting nails in this manner was first popularized in America during the time of the American Revolution––indeed, cut nails by old nail companies such as the Tremont Nail Company in Mansfield, Massachusetts still produce nails in this manner for period restoration projects and remodeling (Tremont Nail Company Online).


The 1800s were a time of rapid expansion of the nail industry and falling prices for production. By the turn of the 17th century, machine-made cut nails were commonly available throughout the Northeast (Edwards and Wells 17). Cut nails made from nail blanks were considered superior to hand-forged nails, the heads more uniform and the pieces stronger. A majority of cut nails were still finished by hand, but machine-cut blanks were much cheaper to manufacture. Hand-made nails were still used for special purposes and projects, but machine-generated cut nails were ubiquitous (Edwards and Wells 19). 


These nails found at the John Brown House could have been crafted several places between 1790 and 1900. The Hope Furnace, a smelting and crafting enterprise of the Brown family, was producing cut nails during this period. The convenience of the Furnace as the production location for nails used in the Brown family businesses and private constructions is an important consideration. During the postulated manufacture dates from 1790 to 1900, the Furnace was in operation and producing nails. Other production companies, such as the Amesbury nail works in Massachusetts were far more prolific in their output of cut nails. In the year 1800, the company produced 100 tons of cut nails, selling cheaply at 9.5-9.9 cents per pound. 


The latest proposed date for these two cut nails, assuming they were not historical revival pieces, is the early 1900s. By the turn of the 18th century, with the exception of heavy-duty roofing nails, the cut nails industry was in serious decline (Edwards and Wells 19). 7.23 million kegs of galvanized steel wire nails were manufactured in 1900 but only 1.57 million kegs of cut nails (Edwards and Wells 19). Eventually, steel wire roofing nails were introduced to end complaints of rapidly rusting roofing nails––still mostly cut iron nails at that time. By 1920 only only 8% of the U.S. production of nails consisted of cut nails. Advertising stressed the greater holding power of these nails (Historic Nails).


Trends in nail production and consumption hold a great deal of significance when considering the dates and provenance of the two nails founds in Unit 5. A second important consideration is the practice of recycling nails. The two nails found were possibly reused from previous constructions, particularly in a dynasty family like John Brown’s with many generations constructing homes and performing renovations. Nails did not deteriorate excessively, and thus were sometimes used in many different incarnations, making exact dating difficult. Furthermore, throughout the 18th century, carpenters were “conservative” when using nails in their constructions (Edwards and Wells 3). The expense of nails before mass-production was a consideration of many builders. A mix of old and new nails, as well as nails taken from recycled lumber were common components in many constructions built at the time of the John Brown House. “Thus, any new house might have been built with two or three different kinds of nails, each dating to a different period in the evolution of nail technology. To complicate matters further, most wooden houses required repairs every twenty to forty years” (Edwards and Wells 3). The structures at the John Brown House could have been repaired several times during their incarnation as outbuildings. 


Because of these various complications, accurate dating and establishing the provenance of nails is better accomplished with a large sample of nails. Although the deposit of nails from JBH 35 has five nails or nail fragments, three are too corroded to work with in their present state. They appear to be simply lumps of iron (Figure 3). Two are more visibly nail-like, and the features of them can be seen. One of the nails is bent (see Figure 2), and longer than the other (see Figure 1). The shaft of the nail in Figure 1 tapers to a point, but because of extensive rusting and corrosion, it is difficult to ascertain whether the sides of the shaft are all tapering to a point or whether the nail was tapered on only two sides. These nails appear to both have been machine-cut nails, with hand-finished heads. These qualifications date these two nails from some date post 1790 until late 19th century when machine-produced wire nails became the norm. Both are iron nails, but are different from the multitude of nails found in JBH 1 and JBH 8 (more than 8 individual nails with a unique double head) at the John Brown House. These two nails may be older as they show evidence of hand-tooling. Unfortunately, due to the extreme rusting of the head and portions of the shaft of the two distinguishable nails, more accurate use of diagnostic features is not possible to date these artifacts. Cleaning and possibly splitting the nails to see the grain of the metal would yield more diagnostic information. 

Object Biography #2-Small Fragment Transfer-Printed Pearlware


I also examined a fragment of pearlware printed with a light blue transfer print. This piece of earthenware pottery from was found in Unit 3 in context JBH 23. The reverse side from the printing is a white glaze with some sort of makers crest, a small six-leaved flower or clover imprinted in the glaze. This imprint measures approximately 4.1mm in diameter and is located in the middle of the fragment. The sherd itself has edges measuring 10.9 mm by 11.4 mm by 8.0 mm by 9.3 mm and is a rough quadrangle, closer to being triangular than square. This pearlware fragment is about 2.1 mm thick. 


The sherd was uncovered in JBH23. This context contained a multitude of different sorts of artifacts, that spanned several centuries in possible production and use dates. JBH 23 was rich in earthenware pieces. These included several fragments of a pink sponge-printed white-wear; many smaller sherds of transfer-printed earthenware; and what appears to be a one of the oldest finds from the site thus far, a thick red earthenware piece with a heavy green glaze. In addition to these older finds, a some modern midden––including the pull tab from a drink can––was found and several heavily corroded nails and pieces of thick black glass. The soil in this context was quite uniform, which offers little explanation for how the range of dates became so jumbled.   


This sherd is an example of a type of refined earthenware called pearlware. Pearlware is defined as “earthenware similar to early creamware, but rendered white or very pale grey by the addition of some cobalt stain to the glaze to neutralize the yellow effect caused by the lead. This was the most common sort up to about 1830 and may often be identified by the blue color of surplus glaze around foot-rings or handles or on the underside of dishes” (Copeland 6). While this piece of pearlware is too small to identified by the pooling of glaze, the purer white of the pottery itself make identification possible. 


Although this particular sherd is very small, some distinctive features about the light blue transfer-printed pattern can be discerned and are the best indicators of manufacture date. The design appears to be a portion of an archway, pagoda, or temple. Assuming this interpretation of the design is correct, it most likely is part of a neoclassical motif depicting a temple or marble facade of a building or is an example of Asian-inspired chinoiserie (Copeland 2). According to the Florida Museum of Natural History guide to pottery, the heavier brush strokes of hand-painted Chinese motifs on pearlware “were eclipsed by transfer printing by about 1812-1815.” This sets the date as later than 1812, and using the dates from the rise in popularity of transfer printing on pearlware and the peak of popularity for pearlware as a pottery form,  this sherd can be roughly dated to a production date some time between 1812 and 1830 (FLMNH Online). 


Several possibilities for the predominant motif of this blue transfer print must be considered since the sherd is so small. According to the Florida Museum of Natural History catalog of pottery styles, techniques and common motifs for transfer printing on pearlware evolved between the basic dates of 1784 and 1840. This piece does not have the cruder designs of earlier 18th century transfer printing, but rather is the motif employs stippling––using many small dots to create precise shading and more dynamic two-dimensional designs. If this piece indeed portrays a pagoda or a Chinese-inspired design, it would more likely be from some time before 1815 based on peak popularity. From 1815-1830, classical and historical scenes were popular. The shred does not seem to be painted with a later 19th century romantic landscape motif, but rather depicts buildings, and thus was likely not produced post 1830 (FLMNH Online). Overlapping these possible dates, this sherd most likely comes from the fifteen year period between 1815 and 1830, a light blue transfer print on pearlware with a classical motif.  


One final component of this sherd worth noting is the small stamped design on the reverse of the blue transfer print. Written maker’s marks on all types of pottery are common, and most likely this small imprinted clover or six-leaf flower was close to a painted-on mark. The clover was likely only centimeters away from the printed name or mark of the manufacturer, that fragment lost to time or perhaps elsewhere in the John Brown House lawn. Databases of stamped makers’ marks were common online, but I could find no record of this particular one in catalogs of common marks from the time period. 

Object Biography #3-Two Sherds Plain Pearlware 


A final find were two light aqua glazed pieces of pearlware, with a cobalt blue glaze on the opposite side of the smaller sherd. The larger sherd was 33.2 mm long by 23.9 and is a rough square. The second fragment is 13.3 mm wide and 15.0 mm long. Both sherds vary from 4.5 mm at their thickest points to 2.2 mm at the thinnest. The lip on the larger sherd is the thickest portion between the two pieces. 


These sherds of plain pearlware came from JBH 23 (see description in Object Biography #2), the same context as the small fragment of light blue transfer-printed pearlware. Notably, the two fragments appear to be from the same vessel, as the glaze on the outside of the smaller sherd matches the light aqua glaze on the chip-free side of the larger fragment. Possibly all of the deep cobalt glaze on the larger fragment chipped off through time, and the smaller fragment represents the true glaze pattern for this vessel. 


The larger fragment has a raised rim running along top third of the segment. Using this crescent as a diagnostic tool and a diagram of rim diameters of various vessels from  “Diagnostic Artifacts in Maryland,” I was able to estimate the intact rim diameter of this vessel as 4 inches wide. The fragments could have been a portion of a teacup, tankard, or mug. The deeper blue cobalt glaze from the smaller fragment could have been painted on the inside of the mug. The Florida Museum of Natural History database corroborates this speculation listing possible vessel forms for plain pearlware as bowls, cups, plates, and platters. More likely this was a rounded vessel such as a cup or mug than a flat plate or platter. 


The light aqua color of the glaze on the majority of the larger fragment is due to the addition of cobalt to the glaze. Only certain colors of glaze can withstand the temperatures needed to fire the lead glaze on pearlware. From 1780-1840, addition of minerals like  antimony for yellow, copper for greens, and, in this case, cobalt for blue were the most common colors of glaze. Each of these could withstand kiln temperatures of 1000-1100 degrees Celsius (Lockett).



The lack of a transfer print or decoration on this piece does not rule out the possibility. According to the Florida Museum of Natural History database, “many archaeologically-recovered sherds without decoration were undoubtedly fragments from decorated wares.” Without decoration, the color of the glaze is the most indicative feature of the shred. This variety of “plain pearlware” often has a light blue cast to the glaze, similar to the light aqua color on this piece, particularly where glaze pools. Along the raised ridge, the glaze is slightly darker. 


The small patch of bright blue cobalt glaze on the reverse side of the smaller sherd was most likely produced using the addition of more cobalt to a heavy lead glaze. This color may have coated the inside of the vessel. Another possibility is that the bright blue glaze was an underglaze for a transfer print piece or hand-painted piece, despite no decorated fragments being found. The two sherds appear to belong to the same vessel, although precisely what form and whether decoration existed cannot be determined. 


Undecorated pearlware vessels were not as common as hand-painted, sponge painted or transfer printed ones. The paste of pearlware became heavier and whiter after 1810, and the difference in thickness between these fragments and other sherds of pearlware found at the John Brown House site is notable. The thicker lead glaze also indicates this piece may be the rarer undecorated pearlware, narrowing its estimated manufacture date to between 1810 and 1840. Glazes on undecorated pieces varied from almost white to a deep blue tint, much like the colors seen on this fragment. The product origin is England, as it is for most pearlware pieces found in North America during this time. 
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Figure 1-Nail JBH 35





Figure 2-Nail JBH 35

Figure 3-Complete Nail Collection JBH 35

Figure 4-Light Blue Transfer Print Pearlware Sherd JBH 23        Figure 5-Reverse Side 
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Stamped Mark

Figure 6-Light Aqua Plain Pearlware JBH 23    

 Figure 7- Light Aqua Plain Pearlware JBH 23

Figure 8-Smaller Sherd Plain Pearlware  Figure[image: image8.jpg]


 9-Reverse Smaller Sherd Plain 
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